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GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR CONTESTING TENTATIVE RULINGS IN DEPT. 15 

The tentative ruling will become the Court’s ruling unless by 4:00 p.m. of the court day preceding 

the hearing, counsel or self-represented parties call the department rendering the decision to 

request argument and to specify the issues to be argued. Calling counsel or self-represented 

parties requesting argument must advise all other affected counsel and self-represented parties by 

no later than 4:00 p.m. of his or her decision to appear and of the issues to be argued. Failure to 

timely advise the Court and counsel or self-represented parties will preclude any party from 

arguing the matter. (Local Rule 3.43(2).) Department 15’s telephone number is: (925) 608-

1115. 

Submission of Orders After Hearing in Department 15 Cases 

The prevailing party must prepare an order after hearing in accordance with CRC 3.1312. The 

order must include appearances.  If the tentative ruling becomes the Court’s ruling, a copy of the 

Court’s tentative ruling must be attached to the proposed order when submitted to the Court for 

issuance of the order. 

 

 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL16-00530 
CASE NAME: WAHR FINANCIAL VS. ROSE 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY WAHR FINANCIAL GROUP, LLC, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
No opposition has been filed.  Request for Judicial Notice is granted.  The court finds that there 
is no triable issue of material fact or triable issue of liability.  The motion for Summary Judgment 
is granted.  Judgment in favor of Plaintiff shall be entered as prayed. 

 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL16-01174 
CASE NAME: WELLS FARGO VS. WOOLERY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO ENTER JUDGMENT 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
No opposition has been filed.  The motion is granted as prayed.  Judgment shall be entered 
in favor of Plaintiff in the amount of $4,537.34. 
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 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL18-00263 
CASE NAME: WELLS FARGO VS. MAGLASANG 
HEARING ON MOTION TO ISSUE ABSTRACT OF JUDGMENT 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
No opposition has been filed.  The motion to issue the Abstract of Judgment is granted. 

 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL18-00386 
CASE NAME: BBBB BONDING VS. ELITE 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended CROSS-COMPLAINT 
FILED BY BBBB BONDING CORPORATION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Cross-Defendant BBBB Bonding 

Corporation dba Bad Boys Bail Bonds (“Cross-Defendant” or “Bad Boys”). The Demurrer relates 

to the Second Amended Cross Complaint (“SACC”) filed by Cross-Complainant Jamilah Elite 

(“Cross-Complainant” or “Elite”). The SACC alleges causes of action for violation of California’s 

unfair competition law under both an unlawful (first cause of action) and unfair (second cause of 

action) theory of liability. She also alleges a third cause of action for declaratory relief. 

Cross-Defendant demurs pursuant to Code Civ. Proc. §§ 430.10(e) and (a). Although the Cross-

Defendant references subsection (a) in its Notice of Demurrer, there is no argument regarding 

jurisdiction in the memorandum of points and authorities.  

For the following reasons, the Demurrer is overruled. Cross-Defendant to file its answer by 

June 28, 2019. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Both Cross-Complainant and Cross-Defendant request Judicial Notice of several documents; 
both these Requests are unopposed. The Requests are granted. Evid. Code §§ 452, 453. 

Legal Standard 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” Holiday 
Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420. A complaint “is sufficient if it 
alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 
550 (“Doe”)), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with 
reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, 
source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. 
Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099. Legal conclusions are insufficient. Id. 
at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5. The Court “assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the 
complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.” 
California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247. “The existence 
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and scope of duty are legal questions for the court.” Merrill v. Navegar, Inc. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 
465, 477. 

Factual Background 

Cross-Complainant alleges that she cosigned an agreement with her adult son (who was being 

held in Marin County Jail) with Cross-Defendant. SACC at ¶ 19, 20. The “Unpaid Premium 

Agreement” was for a Premium of $7,500.00 (10% of her son’s bond) in exchange for Bad Boys’ 

pretrial release services, including posting a bond for her son. Id. at ¶ 20. The Unpaid Premium 

Agreement provided for payment of the premium fee in deferred payments in installments over 

28 months. Id.; see also SACC, Ex. 1.  

Cross-Complainant’s son also signed an “Agreement for a Bail Bond” in which he acknowledged 

the terms and conditions of the bond being issued on his behalf and his obligation to Bad Boys. 

SACC at ¶ 21. While Cross-Complainant was at their office, Bad Boys’ representative 

repeatedly referred to her as the “cosigner” and represented to her that her role was to ensure 

that her son paid the premium. Id. at ¶ 22. Bad Boys’ representative did not explain document 

terms to Cross-Complainant and instead instructed her where to sign and initial. Id. at ¶ 23. Bad 

Boys did not provide Cross-Complainant with a Notice to Cosigner pursuant to Civil Code 

§ 1799.91. Cross-Complainant also alleges that she signed documents that contained blank 

spaces to be filled in after her signature had been obtained, in violation of Civil Code § 1799.93. 

Id. at ¶ 54(B). 

Cross-Complainant also signed (along with her son) an Indemnity Agreement for Surety Bond. 

SACC at ¶ 28; see also SACC Ex. 2. Finally, she executed an Indemnitor/Guarantor Checklist. 

Id. at ¶ 30. Cross-Complainant alleges that “[n]either the Unpaid Premium Agreement nor the 

Checklist explained that the premium is owed regardless of the outcome of the court case.” Id. 

Analysis 

Cross-Complainants Business & Professions Code § 17200 claims are premised on alleged 

violations of Civil Code §§ 1799.91, 1799.93, and 1799.95 which are in turn premised on a 

conclusion that the Unpaid Premium Agreement at issue is a consumer credit contract as 

defined by Civil Code § 1799.90. 

Civil Code § 1799.90 reads: 

As used in this title: 

(a) “Consumer credit contract” means any of the following obligations to pay money on a 

deferred payment basis, where the money, property, services or other consideration 

which is the subject matter of the contract is primarily for personal, family or 

household purposes: 

(1) Retail installment contracts, as defined in Section 1802.6. 

(2) Retail installment accounts, as defined in Section 1802.7. 
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(3) Conditional sales contracts, as defined in Section 2981. 

(4) Loans or extensions of credit secured by other than real property, or unsecured, 

for use primarily for personal, family or household purposes. 

(5) Loans or extensions of credit for use primarily for personal, family or household 

purposes where such loans or extensions of credit are subject to the provisions 

of Article 7 (commencing with Section 10240) of Chapter 3 of Part I of Division 4 

of the Business and Professions Code, Division 7 (commencing with Section 

18000), Division 9 (commencing with Section 22000), or Division 10 

(commencing with Section 24000) of the Financial Code, whether secured by real 

property or otherwise. 

(6) Lease contracts, as defined in Section 2985.7. 

(b) “Creditor” means an individual, partnership, corporation, association or other entity, 

however designated, who enters into or arranges for consumer credit contracts in the 

ordinary course of business. 

Cross-Complainant alleges that the Unpaid Premium Agreement is a consumer credit contract 

within the definition of Civil Code § 1799.90(a)(1) because it is a retail installment contract 

(SACC at ¶ 35) and also that it is a consumer credit contract within the definition of 

§ 1799.90(a)(4) because it is a “[l]oan[ ] or extension[ ] of credit secured by other than real 

property, or unsecured, for use primarily for personal, family or household purposes.” SACC 

at ¶ 34. 

At the outset, the Court notes (notwithstanding Cross-Defendant’s argument to the contrary) that 

the absence of case law interpreting bail bond service agreements under this statutory scheme 

is not dispositive. Similarly, pending legislation is of little value in determining whether the 

contract at issue in this case is a consumer credit contract within the meaning of § 1799.90. 

Instead, the Court must look at the statutory language and apply it to the facts of this case. 

Statutory Construction 

“Under general settled canons of statutory construction, we ascertain the Legislature’s intent in 

order to effectuate the law’s purpose. We must look to the statute’s words and give them their 

‘usual and ordinary meaning.’ The statute’s plain meaning controls the court’s interpretation 

unless its words are ambiguous. If the plain language of a statute is unambiguous, no court 

need, or should, go beyond that pure expression of legislative intent.” In re Jose S. (2017) 12 

Cal.App.5th 1107, 1113 (quoting White v. Ultramar, Inc. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 563, 572) (internal 

citations and quotations omitted). 

In examining the statute, the Court is guided by two applicable principles: “First, statutory 

language is to be understood in context, with the whole of a statute considered when attempting 

to construe each part. Second, the Legislature does not engage in idle acts, and no part of its 

enactments should be rendered surplusage if a construction is available that avoids doing so.” 
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Mendoza v. Nordstrom, Inc. (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1074, 1087 (internal citations and 

quotations omitted). 

 Section 1799.90(a)(4) 

Cross-Complainant alleges that the Premium Agreement meets the definition of “consumer 

credit contract” under § 1799.90(a)(4) because it is unsecured, and it is an extension of credit 

for personal family and household expenses. SACC ¶ 34.  

In opposition, Cross-Defendant argues that “(1) a bail bond transaction does not involve a 

service primarily for personal, family or household purposes, as required by Civil Code 

§ 1799.90(a)(4), or (2) even if an agreement to procure a bail bond could conceivably be 

deemed a service primarily for personal, family or household purposes, Elite cannot be 

considered a ‘cosigner’ under Civil Code § 1799.91, because she clearly was a recipient of the 

service she sought and was provided through the bail bond transaction, i.e., the release of her 

son from jail.” Dem. at 7:7-12. The Court addresses the latter argument in the 17200 section, 

below, as it goes to whether Cross-Complainant has alleged a violation of the statute rather than 

whether the Agreement at issue is a “consumer credit contract.”  

In support of its first point, Cross-Defendant points to the absence of case law definitively stating 

that bail is a “personal, family or household” service. As stated above, however, the absence of 

existing authority is not dispositive. Cross-Defendant then cites to two federal court cases 

regarding mortgage loans decided under a different statutory scheme. See Dem. at 7. Neither 

case is persuasive. Finally, Cross-Defendant cites to a string of cases regarding the purpose of 

bail in criminal cases. See Dem. at 8:12-14. The reliance on these cases is misplaced; while 

they articulate the Court’s purpose of imposing bail in criminal cases, they do not address the 

circumstance here where an individual pays a premium to a private company for procuring bail 

bonds and facilitating pretrial release.  

The plain language of the statute—“personal, family or household purpose”—is unambiguous. 

“If the language is clear and unambiguous there is no need for construction, nor is it necessary 

to resort to indicia of the intent of the Legislature (in the case of a statute) or of the voters (in the 

case of a provision adopted by the voters).” Lungren v. Deukmejian (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735. 

Although it is only persuasive, Cross-Complainant cites to several federal cases outside 

California that have applied consumer protection laws to financed bail premiums, predominantly 

decided under the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”). See Opp. at 7:20-8:9. Cross-Complainant 

notes that TILA explicitly regulates the extensions of credit for personal, family or household 

purposes. See 15 U.S.C. § 1602(i). It is not unreasonable to conclude that the ordinary meaning 

of “personal, family or household purpose” in Civil Code § 1799.90 includes an obligation to pay 

money related to a bail bond. 

Finally, on its face the Unpaid Premium Agreement is plainly an extension of credit. The total 

cost of the bond service was $7,500. SACC, Ex. 1. Cross-Complainant paid $1,000 and Bad 

Boys extended $6,500 in credit to her for the remaining balance. Id. 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   15 
HEARING DATE:   06/17/19 

 
 

- 6 - 

The Court finds that the Unpaid Premium Agreement is a consumer credit contract pursuant to 

Civil Code § 1799.90(a)(4). 

 Section 1799.90 (a)(1)  

As a separate and independent basis for concluding that the Unpaid Premium Agreement is a 

consumer credit contract, Cross-Complainant alleges that the Agreement meets the definition of 

a retail installment contract under Civil Code § 1799.90(a)(1), as defined in § 1802.6. 

A “retail installment contract” is defined as a contract for a retail installment sale between a 

buyer and a seller providing for either (a) repayment in installments, subject to a finance charge 

or other consideration, or (b) payment in four or more installments. Civ. Code, § 1802.6. A 

“seller” is defined as a person engaged in the business of selling goods or furnishing “services” 

to a retail buyer. Civ. Code, § 1802.3. Services mean “work, labor and services, for other than a 

commercial or business use.” Civ. Code, § 1802.2. The California Supreme Court has rejected 

an attempt to construe narrowly this definition of “services.” See Morgan v. Reasor Corp. (1968) 

69 Cal.2d 881, 887 (rejecting an attempt to construe narrowly the act’s definition of “services”). 

As noted by Morgan, “Section 1802.2 clearly includes all services provided for personal 

purposes, except for the specifically enumerated exceptions; obviously we do not assume that 

the Legislature intended exceptions other than those it explicitly specified.” Id. at 888 

(emphasis original).  

Bad Boys’ principal argument, that “the bail bond at issue was not a retail installment contract,” 

relies on Esparza v. Two Jinn, Inc. (C.D. Cal. Sept. 22, 2010) 2010 WL 11507642. Dem. at 

9:13-14. Bad Boys’ reliance on Esparza is misplaced. The federal court in Esparza considered 

whether a bail bond agency was a “retail establishment” for purposes of a FLSA claim. Here, the 

Court need not look outside the Unruh Act’s own definition of “retail seller” at Civil Code 

§ 1802.3. Esparza does nothing to suggest that Bad Boys falls outside the definition “engaged in 

the business of selling goods or furnishing services to retail buyers.” 

The Premium Agreement is payable over 28 installments (SACC ¶¶ 20, 63(B), Ex. A) for the 

“sale” of a “service” (procuring bail bonds and facilitating pretrial release (SACC ¶ 19; see also 

Bad Boys Complaint, Common Count Cause of Action at CC-1(b)(2) (“for work, labor, services 

and materials”)). As a consequence, the Unpaid Premium Agreement meets the definition of a 

retail installment contract under § 1799.90(a)(1). 

Because the Court concludes that the Unpaid Premium Agreement is a consumer credit 

contract as defined by Civil Code § 1799.90 under either § 1799.90(a)(1) or (a)(4), it now turns 

to whether Cross-Complainant has stated a claim for violation of Business and Professions code 

§ 17200 et seq. 

 Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq. 

It is a violation of California's Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”) to engage in any “unlawful, unfair, 

or fraudulent business act or practice.” Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. “By proscribing ‘any 

unlawful’ business practice, section 17200 'borrows' violations of other laws and treats them as 

unlawful practices that the unfair competition law makes independently actionable.” Cel–Tech 
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Commc'ns, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Tel. Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 163, 180 (internal quotations 

and citations omitted). “Because Business and Professions Code section 17200 is written in the 

disjunctive, it establishes three varieties of unfair competition–acts or practices which are 

unlawful, or unfair, or fraudulent.” Id. (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). “In other 

words, a practice is prohibited as 'unfair' or 'deceptive' even if not 'unlawful' and vice versa.” Id.  

Each prong of the UCL is a separate and distinct theory of liability. Here, Cross-Complainant 

alleges both. 

 Unlawful (First Cause of Action) 

“Section 17200 ‘borrows’ violations from other laws by making them independently actionable as 

unfair competitive practices.” Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 

1134, 1143. To state a cause of action based on an “unlawful” business act or practice under 

the UCL, a plaintiff must allege facts sufficient to show a violation of some underlying law. 

People v. McKale (1979) 25 Cal. 3d 626, 635. California Courts have held that “[t]he ‘unlawful 

practices prohibited by section 17200 are any practices forbidden by law, be it civil or criminal, 

federal, state or municipal, statutory, regulatory, or court-made.” Saunders v. Superior Court 

(1994) 27 Cal. App. 4th 832, 838–39. “[A]n ‘unlawful’ business practice actionable under the 

UCL is one that violates an existing law, including case law....” Cmty Assisting Recovery, Inc. v. 

Aegis Sec. Ins. Co. (2001) 92 Cal. App. 4th 886, 891. 

The SACC alleges that Bad Boys failed to comply with Civil Code § 1799.91 (regarding cosigner 

notice requirements) and Civil Code § 1799.93 (regarding blank spaces in contract). See SACC 

at ¶¶ 24, 54(B,D). Cross-Complainant further alleges that Bad Boys violated § 1799.95 by filing 

the instant action despite its failure to comply with §§ 1799.91 and 1799.93. SACC at ¶ 54(C). 

The gravamen of Bad Boys’ demurrer is an argument that Elite was the recipient of its services 

(and as a consequence was not a cosigner pursuant to Civil Code § 1799.91) because she 

“sought and was provided through the bail bond transaction … the release of her son from jail.” 

This argument lacks merit.  

Cosigner is defined as “a natural person, other than the primary obligor or the spouse of the 

primary obligor, who renders himself or herself liable for the obligation on a consumer credit 

contract without compensation.” Civil Code § 1799.101(a)(3). The Unpaid Premium Agreement 

in this case was for “services to procure Mr. McClinton’s release from jail.” SACC at ¶ 34. 

Counter-Complainant was not in jail; Bad Boys’ bail bond and pretrial release services were to 

attain her son Mr. McClinton’s release from jail. SACC at ¶ 19. Cross-Defendant’s contention 

that Cross-Complainant received its services because she received “the release of her son from 

jail” would render the cosigner distinction meaningless. Under a plain reading of the statute, 

Cross-Complainant is a cosigner. She has alleged sufficient facts to state predicate violations of 

Civil Code §§ 1799.91, 1799.92, and 1799.95. 

 Unfair (Second Cause of Action) 

In the consumer context, there is not a definitive test to determine whether a business practice 

is unfair. See Cel-Tech, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 187, fn. 12 (stating that test for unfairness in 
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competitor cases is “limited to that context” and does not “relate[] to actions by consumers”). 

Instead, the appellate courts have applied three different tests for unfairness in consumer cases. 

See Drum v. San Fernando Valley Bar Assn. (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 247, 256-57. The first test 

requires the public policy underlying the claim to be tethered to specific constitutional, statutory, 

or regulatory provisions. Bardin v. DaimlerChrysler Corp. (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 1255, 1260-

61. The next looks at whether the alleged business practice “is immoral, unethical, oppressive, 

unscrupulous or substantially injurious to consumers and requires the court to weigh the utility of 

the defendant’s conduct against the gravity of the harm to the alleged victim.” Id. at 1260. The 

last test draws on the definition of “unfair” in section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (15 

U.S.C. § 45(n)), and requires that “ ‘(1) The consumer injury must be substantial; (2) the injury 

must not be outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or competition; and (3) it 

must be an injury that consumers themselves could not reasonably have avoided.’ ” Davis v. 

Ford Motor Credit Co. LLC (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 581, 597–598; see Camacho v. Automobile 

Club of Southern California (2006) 142 Cal.App.4th 1394, 1403. 

Cross-Defendant demurs based on the first test, arguing that Cross-Complainant has failed to 

allege a business practice that is prohibited by law or is contrary to the public policy underlying 

an applicable statute or regulation. Dem. at 13:17-21 (citing Schnall v. The Hertz Corporation 

(2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 1144, 1166-67. This contention rests on its argument that Civil Code 

§§ 1799.91, 1799.92, and 1799.95 and the public policies those provisions advance are not 

applicable to the bail bond premium agreement at issue. However, as the Court discusses at 

length, above, that is not the case. Cross-Complainant has alleged sufficient facts to state a 

cause of action under the unfair prong of Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. 

 Declaratory Judgment (Third Cause of Action) 

Finally, Cross-Defendant demurs to Cross-Complainant’s third cause of action for declaratory 

judgment on the grounds that “the dispute alleged in the SACC only involves past wrongs, not 

an ongoing or future relationship between the parties.” Dem. at 14:8-10. This argument fails to 

account for Cross-Complainant’s allegations that Bad Boys’ unfair and unlawful behavior is 

ongoing and continues to harm other California consumers (SACC at ¶¶ 54, 63) and her prayer 

for relief seeking an injunction on behalf of California consumers (SACC at ¶ 77 (A-D)). In light 

of these allegations, Cross-Complainant cannot be said to only seek the “redress of past 

wrongs.” Osseus Technologies of America, Inc. v. DiscoveryOrtho Partners LLC (2010) 191 

Cal.App.4th 357, 367. 
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 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL18-01685 
CASE NAME: CAVALRY VS. LYONS 
HEARING ON MOTION DEEMING MATTERS ADMITTED 
FILED BY CAVALRY SPV I, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Withdrawn at the request of the moving party. 

 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL18-02797 
CASE NAME: STATE FARM VS. BRUNO 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
No opposition has been filed.  The motion is granted to amend the complaint to correct 
the name of Defendant Sherry Suzan Bruno, who was incorrectly named in the complaint as 
Sherry Susan Bruno.  The amended complaint shall be filed on or before June 28, 2019. 

 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL18-07064 
CASE NAME: CITIBANK VS. MARTINEZ 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ORDER TO CLERK TO ENTER DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
FILED BY CITIBANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion is granted.  The clerk shall enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff in the amount of 
$2,706.53. 

 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL18-07255 
CASE NAME: CAPITAL ONE VS. BRUCKERT 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ORDER TO CLERK TO ENTER DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
FILED BY CAPITAL ONE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion is granted.  The clerk shall enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff in the amount of 
$2,890.39. 

 

  

 


